WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 6 1992

CLERK, SURREME COURT

JAMES PATRICK BONIFAY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 78,724

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PETER W. MITCHELL

Peter W. Mitchell 310 E. Government Street Pensacola, Florida 32501

904 - 438-3973

Bonifay vs. State 78.724

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

I. Statement of Case

1

Appellant, James Patrick Bonifay, was indicted by an Escambia County grand jury for first degree murder, robbery with a firearm, and grand theft. The indictment charged appellant with the premeditated murder or felony murder of Billy Coker, the robbery with a firearm of Billy Coker, and grand theft of the property of Billy Coker as owner or custodian¹. The crimes were alleged to have occurred in Escambia County, Florida, on or about January 26, 1991 (R. 534-535). Appellant was tried by jury and the jury found the Defendant guilty as charged on July 17, 1991 (R. 567-568). This verdict was viewed by the Court on July 17, 1991 and sealed until July 19, 1991 when the verdict was published in open court (R. 372-382). On July 19, 1991 the jury recommended by a vote of

Three Co-defendants were also charged in that indictment with the same offenses, to-wit: Larry Edwin Fordham, Clifford Edward Barth, and Robin Lee Archer (R. 534). The Co-defendant, Larry Edwin Fordham, was sentenced to life imprisonment, without possibility of parole for twenty-five (25) years on the charge of first degree murder, to a concurrent sentence of seventy-five (75) years in state prison on the robbery with a firearm charge, and to a concurrent sentence of five (5) years in state prison on the grand theft charge (Appendix, p. 1). The Co-defendant, Clifford was sentenced to life imprisonment without Edward Barth. possibility of parole for twenty-five (25) years on the charge of first degree murder, and to concurrent sentences of five (5) years each in state prison on the charges of robbery with a firearm and grand theft (Appendix, p. 8) The Co-defendant, Robin Lee Archer received an identical sentence to the appellant (Appendix, p. 14).

The appeal of Larry Edwin Fordham is pending before the First District Court of Appeal (Docket No. 91-3115). Clifford Edward Barth did not file an appeal. The appeal of Robin Lee Archer is pending before this Court (Case No. 78,701).

ten to two that the court impose the death penalty on appellant, James Patrick Bonifay (R. 481, 575). On July 25, 1991 the appellant filed a Motion for New Trial and that motion was denied by the court on (R. 576-577, 603-604). On September 20, 1991 Circuit Judge Lacy A. Collier adjudged appellant guilty of first degree murder and sentenced him to death (R. 615, 631, 633). Appellant was also adjudged guilty of robbery with a firearm and sentenced to a term of natural life to run consecutively to the death sentence, and additionally appellant was adjudged guilty of grand theft and sentenced to a term of five years to run consecutively to the sentence for robbery (R. 615-617, 631, 634-636).

A Notice of Appeal was filed to this Court on October 4, 1991 (R. 638) and by notice of this Court dated March 11, 1992, the appellant's brief is to be served by May 5, 1992.

II. Facts

A. "Guilt" Phase

The crimes occurred on or about January 26, 1991 in a Pensacola business, Trout Auto Parts. The witnesses who testified for the State of Florida are as follows:

(1) Carl Chapman, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Patrol Officer John Wilkinson, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Crime (2) Scene Identification Officer Robert A. Taylor, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, (3) Identification Division (4) Thomas Allen Eaton, General Manager, Trout Auto Parts Daniel Ray Wells, Trout Auto Parts Émployee Jennifer Morris Tatum, Acquaintance of Appellant (5) (6) David Kelly Bland, Acquaintance of Appellant (7)Thomas L. O'Neal, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, (8) Homicide Investigator

(9) Allen H. Cotton, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Homicide Investigator

(10) Clifford Edward Barth, Co-Defendant

(11) Gary Dean Cumberland, Medical Examiner's Office, Forensic Pathologist

(12) Joseph Michael Hall, Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Crime Laboratory Analyst

The pertinent facts and circumstances, as related by these witnesses, are as follows:

Carl Chapman, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Patrol Officer

At 12:09 a.m. on January 26, 1991 he was dispatched to Trout Auto Parts, and that he entered the building and found the victim lying behind the counter on the floor. He called for Identification, Investigations and Supervisor, and Emergency Medical Services and turned the scene over to Officer Wilkinson (R. 136-139).

John Wilkinson, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Crime Scene Identification

He arrived at Trout Auto Parts at approximately 12:20 a.m. on January 26, 1991 and observed the victim lying on the floor behind the counter. He took certain items into evidence and took certain photographs of the scene. Photographs of the victim and the scene were identified by the witness, published to the jury, and introduced into evidence (R. 139-156).

Robert A. Taylor, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Identification Division

He received four projectiles from Dr. Cumberland at the autopsy that were taken from the body of of the victim, Billy Coker. He measured and weighed the projectiles and determined that they were probably .32 caliber projectiles (R. 157-162).

Thomas Allen Eaton, General Manager, Trout Auto Parts

He said a mondey drop was made from other stores on weekends, that a security box kept petty cash until the next day, and that the cash drawers were secured by padlocks. He identified at trial a ceiling mounted camera located in the store from a photograph On the date of the murder, he retrieved a tape from the surveillance camera and gave it to Investigator Tom O'Neal. Approximately \$3,500.00 was taken from the store during the robbery in question. Billy Coker, the victim, was a full-time employee of Trout Auto Parts and had worked there one year prior to his death. Robin Archer had previously been an employee at the same Trout Auto Parts store (R. 177-184).

Daniel Ray Wells, Trout Auto Parts Employee

At 11:55 p.m. on January 24, 1991, someone came to the night window box and ordered a clutch disk, pressure plate, and a throwout bearing for a 1985 Nissan truck. He was kind of spooked and only pretended to wait on this customer. This person had on gloves although it wasn't cold outside and that he heard a sound that he thought was the cocking of a gun. He told this person to check back tomorrow and the person grabbed his right glove that was in the window and took off down the sidewalk. He didn't go to work as scheduled on January 25, 1991 due to illness. He identified the appellant, James Patrick Bonifay, as the person who came to the night window box on the night of January 24, 1991. He knew Robin Archer from going to school at Coastal Training Institute and from working with him at Trout Auto Parts. He did not know the

appellant, James Patrick Bonifay.

He had problems with Robin Archer, co-defendant of the appellant. Robin Archer indicated to him that he took care of his problems with a pistol that he was wearing at the Trout Auto Parts store. He suggested to his superior that Robin Archer be fired from his employment with Trout Auto Parts. Robin Archer didn't show up for work, had a bad attitude toward customers, wasn't cut out to sell parts or work with the public and he suspected Robin Archer of selling drugs. He worked with Robin Archer for about four or five months.

He identified a State's exhibit as being a photograph of the victim, Billy Wayne Coker (R. 184-195).

Jennifer Morris Tatum, Acquaintance of Appellant

She knew the appellant from school and also knew the codefendant, Eddie Fordham. She had seen the appellant and Eddie Fordham together. The weekend before she learned about the murder and robbery at Trout Auto Parts and heard the appellant asking her boyfriend, Kelly Bland, where the gun was.

The appellant told her in person that he did the murder at Trout Auto Parts. The details of the offenses as related this witness were as follows: Cliff, (co-defendant, Clifford Edward Barth), and the appellant went through the window at Trout. Cliff had the gun and the appellant told Cliff to shoot him (victim, Billy Coker) because he saw the appellant's face. Cliff refused and gave appellant the gun and appellant shot him. The victim, Billy Coker, was screaming out, "please don't shoot me, I have a

wife and kids". The appellant stated that he was going to rob the store, "just to get money", and that all three of them (appellant, co-defendant, Clifford Edward Barth, and co-defendant, Larry Edwin Fordham) got some money.

She talked with appellant a few more times and that he "said he did it" and that his mom knew and that she doesn't care. She notified a police agency (R. 198-207).

Kelly Bland, Acquaintance of Appellant

Appellant came to him and asked if he could borrow a gun so that he could shoot it out at the pond at the witness's cousin's house, co-defendant, Clifford Edward Barth. The appellant knew codefendant, Robin Lee Archer, and Bland thought that they were cousins. He gave his pistol to Robin Archer, he believed on the Thursday before the robbery and murder at Trout. Appellant gave him the gun back and that "they" gave him a box of ammunition on a Wednesday. Later on, a bag and a shirt were left in his car, and at some time he got back bolt cutters.

On the Thursday or Friday after it happened the appellant told him what happened at Trout. The facts as related by that conversation are as follows: "They" went to Trout and appellant shot a guy with the gun. Appellant first reached through the window and shot the guy through the side and then appellant crawled through the window and shot him in the chest. As they were leaving, appellant shot the victim in the head. The victim was pleading for his life, he said he had a wife and two kids, not to kill him, and appellant said, "F your wife and kids", and shot him.

He hid the pistol in the woods, put the bolt cutters in the shed, and left the bag and shirt in the car. He eventually gave the gun, the bag, the backpack, shirt, ammunition, and the bolt cutters to Officer Tom O'Neal. He first lied to Officer O'Neal because he was afraid of going to jail and that he told him the gun was thrown off a bridge.

The appellant told him to threaten to hurt the co-defendant, Larry Edwin Fordham, if he talked about what happened at Trout, and that the witness did so. At first he lied and told law enforcement that he gave the gun to appellant, when he, in fact, had delivered it to co-defendant, Robin Lee Archer (R. 208-222).

Thomas L. O'Neal, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Homicide Investigator

The testimony of this witness was first proffered to the Court and later in the trial the witness was recalled to give testimony. He was called to Trout Auto Parts store in the early morning hours of January 27, 1991 and he arrived and observed Mr. Coker on the floor between the parts counter and the inventory directly behind where the parts counter is near the parts window. He talked with Jennifer Morris and based on that information and some other information, he prepared a warrant affidavit, and while he was having a warrant signed by a judge, investigators Martin and Cotton took the appellant into custody.

He interviewed the appellant at the Escambia County Sheriff's Office after advising him of his rights and after the appellant signed the rights form. The appellant was not threatened nor was he promised anything.

Officer O'Neal identified the tape that he stated was a recording of the interview with the appellant taken on February 11, 1991 at 9:07 p.m. and that tape was played to the jury. A summary of the contents of that taped interview of the appellant is as The appellant's cousin, Robin Archer, wanted him to do follows: a hit on a person that worked at Trout Auto Parts because that guy had gotten Robin Archer fired. Robin Archer told him to kill the man by shooting him in the head. He and co-defendants, Clifford Edward Barth and Larry Edwin Fordham went to Trout on Friday night in Eddie Fordham's automobile. He got out of the car with the gun but he couldn't shoot the man and he came back to the car and they left. He saw Robin Archer the next morning (Saturday) and Archer bitched at the him because he didn't do it and told the appellant that the man was going to be there tonight and for the appellant to do it. There was suppose to be a lot of money in it for him if he did it.

He and Clifford Edward Barth and Larry Edwin Fordham, returned to Trout on Saturday night in Eddie Fordham's father's automobile. He was going to put on his ski mask and just point the gun at the victim, but before he could do that, the victim turned around and looked him in the face. He pointed the gun at the victim after the victim turned around and he got ready, not to kill the victim, but to shoot him and Clifford Edward Barth grabbed him and the gun went off. Clifford Edward Barth yelled that the appellant didn't kill the victim and Barth took the gun and shot the victim again. Then he and Clifford Edward Barth put the ski masks on and went through

the window. The victim was saying things such as he had kids and all and please don't shoot him. He cut the locks off while Barth held the gun and then Barth told him to kill the victim. He took the gun from Barth and stuck it to the victim's head and turned the other way as he pulled the trigger. Barth then hollered, "Patrick, he ain't dead," so he shot him again. They left Trout and got back in the truck driven by Larry Edwin Fordham, and he pulled the gun on Barth and yelled at him, why did he have to holler his name, that he didn't have to kill the man. He wasn't really worried about the victim seeing his face because it was dark outside. Robin Archer set the whole thing up, told him where to do, what to do, how to do everything. The gun used came from David Kelly Bland and he informed the officers that he gave the gun back to Bland, along with the bullets that were left in the box. He and Barth and Fordham shared the money taken from Trout. He asked the officers to make sure his family and girlfriend were protected and one of the officers stated that they had advised him they would do the best, everything they could.

After the playing of the tape, Officer O'Neal identified a gun, partial box of ammunition, and bolt cutters as being items he received from Kelly Bland. He also said that Tim Eaton handed him a tape recording from the Trout store security VCR.

Officer O'Neal stated that the appellant had been crying prior to the taping of the interview and that also prior to the taping, the appellant expressed a fear for his family from Robin Archer.

He identified State's exhibit #10 as the security tape from

Trout Auto and that tape was introduced into evidence and published to the jury. He described the operation of the security camera and, over objection of the defense counsel, interpreted for the jury some of the contents of the film (R. 257-262).

Allen H. Cotton, Escambia County Deputy Sheriff, Homicide Investigator

The appellant cooperated with him in riding around with him and showing him the location of items taken from or used during the robbery. The appellant cooperated by giving a statement regarding the events that took place. Both before and after the recorded statement given by the appellant he expressed fear that Robin Archer would harm his family, his mother and sister. Officer Cotton said that the appellant showed emotion and cried throughout the interview process (R. 253-256).

Clifford Edward Barth, Co-defendant

He testified that he was friends with the appellant and had met him through the witness's cousin, Kelly Bland, in July or August, 1990. The appellant first mentioned the robbery of Trout Auto to him on the Thursday before it took place. He, Patrick Bonifay, and Eddie Fordham went to Trout Auto on Friday night to rob the store and for Bonifay to shoot the clerk if he had to, that the clerk wasn't really supposed to be shot. Bonifay walked to the window at Trout Auto and came back to the car and told him and Eddie Fordham that he couldn't do it because the guy heard him cock the gun, and the guy hurried up and closed the window.

He saw Bonifay and the next day and they talked about going back to Trout Auto and that Bonifay and Fordham left to buy bullets and returned to the his house around 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. The appellant, Bonifay, went up to the window and shot the man and motioned for him to come out and then the appellant shot the man again. He carried the bolt cutters in and the appellant cut the locks. The man working in the store was talking about don't kill him and he had kids and a wife and said he wouldn't say nothing to the police. The man related the fact that he had a boy and a girl and gave their ages. Bonifay told the victim to shut the fuck up and fuck his kids. The appellant shot the victim two more times and that they left and counted and divided the money taken from Trout Auto. He received \$700.00, Bonifay \$700.00, and Fordham in excess of \$600.00.

Clifford Barth was giving testimony in hopes of avoiding the death penalty or a life sentence. Bonifay said that after Friday night that he had a conversation with Robin Archer and that Archer was upset with Bonifay because he didn't do it Friday night. Barth denied shooting the victim once (R. 265-287).

Upon recall, Barth identified the bag (State's exhibit #9) and the bolt cutters (State's exhibit #8) that had been marked for evidence. He also identified Bonifay as the person who shot Billy Wayne Coker (R. 304-306).

Gary Dean Cumberland, Medical Examiner's Office, Forensic Pathologist

Cumberland, a forensic pathologist, performed an autopsy of Billy Wayne Coker on January 27, 1991. Mr. Coker had two gunshot wounds to the left side of his head and one to the abdominal region and one to the back side of his left shoulder. He removed four bullets and turned them over to Officer Kennedy. His opinion was that the victim died from the four gunshot wounds that he received and that the wounds to the head would have rendered the victim unconscious instantaneously and that he would have died within minutes. He identified State's exhibit #11, marked for evidence as being a photograph of the person that he performed the autopsy on and that was identified to him as Billy Wayne Coker (R. 287-294).

Joseph Michael Hall, Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Crime Laboratory Analyst

The witness, a crime laboratory analyst, testified that the pistol in question (State's exhibit #6) fired the projectiles taken from the body of the victim (State's exhibits #3-A, B, C & D). He further stated that the firearm had normal trigger pull (R. 295-302).

The defense presented no witnesses or evidence during the guilt phase.

B. Penalty Phase

The State presented no additional evidence at the penalty phase of the trial. The appellant called three witnesses to provide mitigation:

- (1) Theresa Crenshaw, Mother of the Appellant
- (2) James Patrick Bonifay, Appellant
- (3) J.J. Crater, Forensic Counselor

Theresa Crenshaw, Mother of the Appellant

Ms. Crenshaw testified that the appellant, her son, Patrick Bonifay, the appellant, was seventeen (17) years old. His father

was very violent and hateful and beat on him a lot. She became aware of sexual abuse of Patrick by his father. She then took him to Lakeview Center for counseling and those records were introduced into evidence. Patrick had problems in school and was placed into the emotionally handicapped program, was diagnosed as being hyper, having an attention deficit disorder, and took Ritalin. She stated further that Patrick was attending night school at Escambia High School at the time of his arrest. She stated that she felt that her son could be rehabilitated and could be a productive member of society.

On cross-examination, over objection of defense counsel, Ms. Crenshaw testified that she was aware of trouble that the appellant had been in that occurred in Mississippi that involved injury to someone and trouble that the appellant had been in that occurred in Pensacola in the previous twelve (12) months (R. 406-417).

James Patrick Bonifay, Appellant

The Appelant testified that Robin Archer is his 24 to 26 year old cousin and that Archer furnished him with drugs. He was afraid of Archer and his drug dealing associates. He was suppose to kill the man at Trout Auto for money on Friday night but couldn't do it. The next day Archer was yelling at him and telling him that you don't back out and had better do it. He told Archer, no, and Archer asked if he liked his mother and girlfriend, which meant to the appellant that Archer would kill them if he didn't do it.

He smoked a joint of marijuana laced with cocaine that was furnished to him by Archer prior to going to Trout Auto. His ears were ringing from the gun fire and all he heard the victim say was kids and he told him to be quiet.

He told the Sheriff's Department officers what happened about Robin Archer's involvement, and showed Officer Cotton where to find evidence. He testified for the State in their case against Robin Archer (transcript of that testimony R. 486-532).

His father hit him and sexually abused him, including performing oral sex on the appellant.

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