IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JUN 11 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-**Chief Deputy Clerk** 

JAMES PATRICK BONIFAY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,724

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

- 5 -

the statement, offered him coffee, removed his restraints and allowed him to smoke cigarettes. Bonifay's waiver was intelligently given and he signed the waiver form.

The voluntariness of a confession need be established only by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>Connelly</u>, <u>supra</u>, 479 U.S. at 169, citing <u>Lego v. Twomey</u>, 404 U.S. 477, 92 S.Ct. 619, 30 L.Ed.2d 618 (1972); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 198, 204 (Fla. 1988). The testimony of Officer O'Neal proffered for the purpose of the court ruling on voluntariness established the statement was voluntary.

Although the mental condition of the defendant is a factor in the voluntariness calculation, a defendant's mental state, by itself and apart from its relation to official coercion does not render the confession involuntary. Connelly, supra, 479 U.S. at 164. Bonifay claims he was emotionally upset and in fear for his family at the time of the confession. Most defendants are emotionally upset when arrested for murder. Bonifay has neither alleged nor demonstrated anything more than a normal reaction. Bonifay testified he was afraid Robin Archer would hurt his family, not that he was afraid any police officer would harm The officers tried to calm him down by telling him they them. would do everything they could to make sure the family was all right. This is hardly coercion. Bonifay's statement implicated If he were so afraid Archer was going to hurt his Archer. family, he would have refrained from making the statement, not proceeded to blame Archer for the murder.

- 6 -

There is no evidence of a mental disturbance such as would prevent Bonifay's waiver and confession to be voluntary. Further, even though mental weakness of the accused is a factor in the determination of voluntariness, the fact of mental subnormality alone does not make a confession involuntary. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 198, 203-04; <u>Kight v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 922, 920 (Fla. 1981). Bonifay was capable of understanding his rights. He was 17 years old, attended night school, and communicated with no difficulty. He provided an excuse for his actions - Robin Archer. The trial court's findings are supported by sufficient evidence. <u>See</u>, <u>Thompson</u>, <u>supra</u> at 204; <u>Hayes v.</u> <u>State</u>, 581 So.2d 121, 125 (Fla. 1991); <u>Ross v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1980).

To the extent Bonifay is implying a juvenile defendant cannot make a voluntary waiver without a parent present, this allegation is contradicted by case law. A juvenile defendant can make a voluntary waiver of his Miranda right where the totality of the circumstances shows the waiver is voluntary. See, Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 725, 99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 (1979); Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1980); State v. Francois, 197 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1979). Bonifay was 17 years old, had previous contact with the criminal justice system, had no serious mental problems and understood his Miranda rights. The police protecting his parents and girlfriend was neither a condition precedent for the confession nor a promise. He was simply reassured law enforcement would do the best they could to protect them, as they do every other citizen.

- 7 -

Error, if any, was harmless. <u>See</u>, <u>Arizona v. Fulminante</u>, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Cliff Barth was present at the robbery/murder and testified against Bonifay in detail. Both Jennifer Morris and Kelly Bland testified that Bonifay told them about how he killed the victim.

### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE MURDER WAS HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL.

Bonifay claims the murder was not heinous, atrocious and cruel because "a very short time elapsed" between the second shot and the two shots to the head. He also claims multiple gunshot wounds do not make a murder heinous, atrocious and cruel.

The security tape which was admitted as State Exhibit #10, the testimony of Cliff Barth and Bonifay's statement establish that it was <u>not</u> a very short time between the second and third shots. Between these two shots, both Barth and Bonifay entered the store, fumbled with the locks, had to climb on counters, and collected money to put in the bag (R 236-37, 258, 274-76). During this entire time the victim lay wounded on the floor begging for his life, speaking of his wife and children, was told "shut the f\_\_\_\_ up and f\_\_\_\_ your kids", then was mercilessly shot in the head. The victim still was not dead so Bonifay shot him again in the head (R 237).

This case is strikingly similar to <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Gaskin</u> this court found heinous, atrocious and cruel was established where the victim was shot twice after which the defendant entered through a window and shot her in the head at point blank range. The only difference is that Mr. Coker was begging for his life and calling out his children's names and ages when he was shot.

The simple fact that a victim is shot does not erase the mental anguish and terror experienced before the shooting. Coker

- 9 -

was painfully aware of what was happening as he lay on the floor, heard Barth and Bonifay enter the store, and begged them to let him live. In Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257, 1265 (Fla. 1983), this court cited six cases to illustrate that even if death is instantaneous, as by a gunshot wound, when victims are subjected to agony over the prospect that death is soon to occur, the murder is heinous, atrocious and cruel. In Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986), the defendant shot his mother and father from the back seat of a car. The murder was heinous because the evidence showed the father turned in his seat and placed his hands up in a defensive position, and the mother witnessed her husband being shot while knowing she was about to be killed. See also, Douglas v. State, 575 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991) (victim hit in head with rifle and shot); King v. State, 436 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1983) (victim struck in forehead with blunt instrument then shot in head; Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 1986) (victim shot in head and shoulders and throat slit); Zeigler v. State, 402 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1981) (victim shot then struck in head with blunt instrument).

This court has found the factor of heinous atrocious or cruel applicable in similar circumstances where even though death resulted from a gunshot wound, the victim suffered mental anguish beforehand. <u>Farinas v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1990) (victim's pleas for mercy ignored, fact that victim jumped from car and ran while screaming indicates victim was in frenzied fear for life, after victim paralyzed from waist down with gunshot wound to spine defendant approached her and fired two shots into

- 10 -

the back of her head after unjamming the gun three times and victim was conscious while he unjammed gun and was aware of her impending death); Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988) (elderly people accosted in home aware of impending deaths because defendants discussed disposing of witnesses and in desperation they ran away but were shot and when not yet dead shot again at point blank range); Douglas, supra, (victim driven around, forced to have sexual acts with another in presence of defendant then hit in head with gun and shot); Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1985) (victim knew he would be killed after abductors reached destination and fact that he died almost immediately after an "execution style" shotgun blast did not negate mental anguish suffered beforehand); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983) (victim must have known that defendant had one reason for binding, gagging and kidnapping him, and after arriving at isolated area victim forcibly removed from trunk and shot without slightest mercy-terror felt by victim during ride and immediately precedent to his death is beyond description). Likewise, the evidence in the instant case supports the conclusion of horror and contemplation of serious injury or See also, Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991); death. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988); Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1988).

This court has repeatedly recognized mental anguish as supporting a finding of heinousness. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986); <u>Francois v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1981); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1982); Knight v. State, 338

- 11 -

So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976). Mental anguish alone has been held sufficient to support a finding of heinousness. <u>Scott v. State</u>, 494 So.2d 1134, 1137 (Fla. 1986), <u>citing Preston v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984), and <u>Routly</u>, <u>supra</u>. Archer's argument that the murder is not heinous because he did not intend for him to suffer, has no merit. <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1990).

This court has never placed a time limit to qualify a murder as heinous. In <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 124, 128 (Fla. 1988), the victim took several minutes to lose consciousness and was aware of her death. <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 1083, 1087 (Fla. 1988), involved a situation where elderly people were accosted in their home, became aware of their impending deaths, tried to run away, and were shot. In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 863, 871 (Fla. 1986), it took the helpless victim 3-5 minutes to die during which time she was in terror and experienced considerable pain. In <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1317, 1319 (Fla. 1986), this court rejected the argument that the murder was not heinous because death was instantaneous, observing that the appellant overlooked the events preceding the murder.

The cases cited by Bonifay are distinguishable. <u>Shere v.</u> <u>State</u>, 579 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1991) involved a rapid succession of gunshots with no prolonged apprehension of death. <u>Lewis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 377 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1980) also involved one continuous shooting. Likewise, the shots in <u>Amoros v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988) were fired within a short time of each other. In <u>McKinney v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1991) there were no additional facts in the record which would raise the shooting to the "shocking" level. The shots in Rivera v. State, 545 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1989) were all fired within approximately 16 seconds of each other. Id. at 866. The judge in Brown v. State, 526 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1988) based his finding of heinous, atrocious and cruel on the victim's status as a law enforcement officer. The fatal shots to the victim in Brown came "almost immediately" after the Id. at 907. initial shot. The victims arms in Menendez v. State, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1979) "may have been" in a submissive This fact was subject to other position. Id. 1282. at reasonable interpretations and the victim was shot twice and died.

In this case there was direct testimony the victim was begging while he lay wounded on the floor and there is no other reasonable interpretation. The fatal shots were separated from the initial shots by a substantial period of time. Bonifay stood over the victim and told him to shut the f\_\_\_\_ up and f\_\_\_\_ his kids. The victim lay on the floor with two gunshot wounds while Bonifay and Barth fumbled with the locks, climbed around on counters and told him to shut the f\_\_\_\_ up.

This case did not involve a "quick killing" as in <u>Cheshire</u> <u>v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Santos v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1991). It involved a prolonged period during which the victim suffered and contemplated impending death. Bonifay showed utter indifference to the victim's pleas and suffering. <u>See</u>, <u>Dougan v. State</u>, 595 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1991).

- 13 -

There were four valid aggravating circumstances. The only statutory mitigating circumstance was age to which little weight was given. The only nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were that Bonifay had an unhappy childhood and behaved well in jail, both of which were given little weight. This could hardly be considered substantially mitigating under the circumstances. See Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127, 130 (Fla. 1991). Archer would have received the death penalty even if the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating circumstance were stricken. See, Maharaj v. State, 17 F.L.W. S201 (Fla. March 26, 1992); Robinson v. State, 574 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1991); Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1990); Rivera v. State, 545 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1989); Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d (Fla. 1988). See also, Clemons v. Mississippi, U.S. , 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed. 725 (1990). Cf., Happ v. State, 17 F.L.W. S68 (Fla. January 23, 1992); Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1991); Gore v. State, 17 F.L.W. S247, 249 (Fla. April 16, 1992); Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990); Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1990); Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING BOTH PECUNIARY GAIN AND DURING THE COURSE OF A ROBBERY AS AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Bonifay claims the trial court erred in finding both pecuniary gain and during the course of a felony as aggravating circumstances. Bonifay does not dispute the fact the murder was committed during a robbery.

The trial court found the murder was committed for financial gain because:

The evidence is clear that the murder was committed to gain the receipts from Trout Auto Parts that was split among the three on scene participants including the defendant. In addition, by his own admission, defendant committed the murder for a case full of money promised by the instigator of the crime, codefendant Robin Archer.

(R 622).

This murder would not have occurred if Archer had never offered Bonifay money. The aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain is established by the fact this was a contract-murder situation and "but for" Archer's offer would not have happened. This episode was separate and distinct from the robbery. Therefore, the aggravating circumstances are not doubled. The fact Bonifay also obtained \$700 from the robbery was an ancillary pecuniary gain to the thousands of dollars he thought were in the briefcase. Pecuniary gain is established by the contract murder arrangement independent of the robbery. <u>See</u>, <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 153, 156 (Fla. 1989). When there are separate facts to support each aggravating circumstance, it is not per se error to have both aggravating circumstances. <u>Cf.</u>, <u>Henry v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 1991) (during robbery/arson and pecuniary gain); <u>Walton v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1989) (during burglary/robbery and pecuniary gain); <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988) (during kidnap/robbery and pecuniary gain). Simply because a robbery also occurred does not automatically eliminate consideration of the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance. In <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1985) this court stated:

There is no reason why the facts in a given case may not support multiple aggravating factors provided the aggravating factors are themselves separate and distinct and not merely restatements of each other as in a murder committed during a robbery and murder for pecuniary gain, or murder committed to eliminate a witness and murder committed to hinder law enforcement. Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla.), cert. denied, U.S. \_, 105 S.Ct. 268, 83 L.Ed.2d 204 (1984); Combs v. State, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2258, 72 L.Ed.2d 862 (1982).

The only prohibition is against doubling aggravating circumstance which are based <u>on the same aspect</u> of the crime, <u>Provence v.</u> <u>State</u>, 337 So.2d 783, 786 (Fla. 1976) or arose out of the same episode <u>Green v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1991). Here, the robbery was separate and distinct from the pecuniary gain which motivated the murder. Error, if any, was harmless. <u>See</u>, <u>Clemons</u> <u>v. Mississippi</u>, <u>U.S. \_\_\_</u>, 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed. 725 (1990).

### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING THE NONSTATUTORY MITIGATION OFFERED THAT BONIFAY COOPERATED WITH LAW ENFORCEMENT.

Bonifay claims the trial court erred in rejecting the nonstatutory mitigating circumstance that he cooperated with law enforcement officers. The trial court stated:

> The Court rejects the claim that defendant has been cooperative with law enforcement and the State Attorney from the beginning. Clearly his stories have varied, been incomplete, and, at best, self-serving.

(R 625).

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